Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

MISSOURI BOARD OF PHARMACY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)
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)

THOMAS G. DIMAIO,
)




)
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)

DECISION


The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (“Board”) may discipline Thomas G. Dimaio for stealing medication from his employer and being impaired on the job.  
Procedure


The Board filed its complaint on January 27, 2006.  Dimaio was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/hearing on February 6, 2006.  On August 16, 2007, we convened a hearing on the complaint.  Lanette Gooch and Robert Angstead with Newman, Comley & Ruth, P.C., represented the Board.  Neither Dimaio nor anyone representing him appeared.  Dimaio’s written argument was due on November 28, 2007.  
Findings of Fact

1. At all relevant times, Dimaio held a current and active pharmacist license until he surrendered it on September 2, 2005.  For 17 years, Dimaio worked for K-Mart and, from at least 
July 2004, was the pharmacist in charge at K-Mart Pharmacy #9353 (“K-Mart”), at 155 Twin City Mall, Crystal City, Missouri.  K-Mart, its employees, and its customers trusted Dimaio to handle controlled substances according to professional standards.  
2. In the two and a half years before August 2, 2005, Dimaio stole the following substances from K-Mart while he was on duty:
	name
	quantity

	price ($)
	total ($)

	Hydrocodone/APAP 10-650
	6,225
	3.99
	24,837.75

	Alprazolam 0.5 mg
	50
	5.99
	299.50

	Alprazolam 1 mg tabs
	300
	5.99
	1,797.00

	Phentermine 30 mg
	30
	3.99
	119.70

	Lorazepam 350
	350
	3.99
	1,396.50

	Hydrocodone 5/325 mg
	50
	5.69
	284.50

	Hydrocodone / APAP 10-325
	6,225
	6.97 
	43,488.25

	Total
	13,230
	
	72,123.20


Dimaio had no prescription for any of those substances and personally consumed them while on duty.  
3. Dimaio took Phentermine to wake up and took the other substances to calm down.  Eventually he was taking approximately 20 pills per day.  Dimaio’s consumption of those substances caused him to open the pharmacy late in the morning and fall asleep on duty, and impaired his ability to function as a pharmacist.  
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.
  The Board has the burden to prove facts on which the law allows discipline.
  
I.  Use and Impairment


The Board cites the provisions of § 338.055.2 allowing discipline for:
(1) Use of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person’s ability to perform the work of [a pharmacist];

*   *   *
(17) Personal use or consumption of any controlled substance unless it is prescribed, dispensed, or administered by a health care provider who is authorized by law to do so.

Controlled substances, as defined in Chapter 195, include Hydrocodone,
 Alprazolam,
 Phentermine,
 and Lorazepam.
  Dimaio personally used controlled substances, not prescribed by an authorized health care provider, to an extent that it impaired his ability to perform the work of a pharmacist.  He is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(1) and (17).  
II.  Violation of State Law

The Board cites the provisions of § 338.055.2 allowing discipline for:
(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate,[
] any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;

*   *   *
(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state[.]
The Board argues that Dimaio violated the following statutes.  Section 195.060.1:

Except as provided in subsection 3 of this section, a pharmacist, in good faith, may sell and dispense controlled substances to any 
person only upon a prescription of a practitioner as authorized by statute[.]
Section 195.180.1, RSMo 2000:

A person may lawfully possess or have under his control a controlled substance if such person obtained the controlled substance directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of a practitioner’s professional practice or except as otherwise authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425.

Section 195.202.1, RSMo 2000:

Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.

Section 195.204, RSMo 2000:

A person commits the offense of fraudulently attempting to obtain a controlled substance if he obtains or attempts to obtain a controlled substance or procures or attempts to procure the administration of the controlled substance by fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, or subterfuge[.]

The Board also argues that Dimaio violated 4 CSR 220-2.090(2)
:

The responsibilities of a pharmacist-in-charge, at a minimum, will include:


(E) Assurance that all procedures of the pharmacy in the handling, dispensing and recordkeeping of controlled substances are in compliance with state and federal laws;


(W) Assure full compliance with all state and federal drug laws and rules[.]
We agree that Dimaio’s diversion of drugs is cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(6) and (15) for violating provisions of Chapter 338, regulations adopted pursuant to that chapter, and Missouri drug laws and rules and regulations.  
III.  Violation of Federal Law

The Board cites the provisions of § 338.055.2(15) allowing discipline for:
[v]iolation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of . . . the federal government[.]
The Board argues that Dimaio violated 21 U.S.C. 353(b)(1):

A drug intended for use by man which—


(A) because of its toxicity or other potentiality for harmful effect, or the method of its use, or the collateral measures necessary to its use, is not safe for use except under the supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug; or


(B) is limited by an approved application under section 355 of this title to use under the professional supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug; 

shall be dispensed only 
(i) upon a written prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug, or 
(ii) upon an oral prescription of such practitioner which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist, or 
(iii) by refilling any such written or oral prescription if such refilling is authorized by the prescriber either in the original prescription or by oral order which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist.  The act of dispensing a drug contrary to the provisions of this paragraph shall be deemed to be an act which results in the drug being misbranded while held for sale.

The Board also argues that Dimaio violated 21 U.S.C. 844(a):

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this subchapter or subchapter II of this chapter.

We agree that Dimaio’s diversion of drugs is cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(15) for violating federal drug laws.  
IV.  Mental State


The Board cites the provisions of § 338.055.2(5) allowing discipline for: 
[i]ncompetence, misconduct, . . . or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of [a pharmacist.]

Dimaio stole and consumed drugs while on duty, which impaired his functions as a pharmacist.  


Incompetence is a general lack of professional ability, or a lack of disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability, to perform in an occupation.
  Misconduct is the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention.
  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive,
 and includes actions that reflect adversely on trustworthiness.
  

Dimaio’s drug diversions were intentional, showing that he cannot function as a pharmacist and cannot be trusted in K-Mart’s pharmacy.  We agree that Dimaio’s diversion of drugs is cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(5) as incompetence, misconduct, and dishonesty in the performance of a pharmacist’s functions or duties.  
V.  Professional Trust

The Board cites § 338.055.2(13), which allows discipline for:
[v]iolation of any professional trust or confidence[.]
Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  But Missouri courts do not limit professional trust to clients.
  The Board showed that K-Mart, its employees, and its customers trusted Dimaio to exercise his professional skills as a pharmacist.  Dimaio violated that trust.  We agree that Dimaio is subject to discipline under 
§ 338.055.2(5).  
Summary


Dimaio is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2 (1), (5), (6), (13), (15), and (17).  

SO ORDERED on January 17, 2008.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

�These amounts are less than the shortage found at Dimaio’s termination.  But they are the amounts that the Board alleged in the complaint and to which Dimaio admitted in his written statements.  


�Section 338.055.2.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2007 unless otherwise noted.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Section 195.017.6(4)(d).


�Section 195.017.8(2)(a).  


�Section 195.017.8 (4)(i).


�Section 195.017.8(2)(aa).


�In its brief, the Board also charges Dimaio with causing, and thus “assisting or enabling,” K-Mart to violate the law.  We make no such findings or conclusion because the Board did not make such allegations in its complaint.  


	�Moved to 20 CSR 2220-2.090(2).


�Section 1.020(8);  Johnson v. Mo. Bd. of Nursing Adm'rs, 130 S.W.3d 619, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2004).


�Grace v. Missouri Gaming Comm’n, 51 S.W.3d 891, 900-01 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001).  


�MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 1993).  


�See In re Duncan, 844 S.W.2d 443, 444 (Mo. banc 1992).


�State v. Pappas, 337 N.W.2d 490, 495 (Iowa 1983).  


�Cooper v. Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy, 774 S.W.2d 501, 504 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).
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